RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

6/1/2017 4:22 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 48332-7-II

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

BA & C PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, LLC, Appellant, v. CITY OF LAKEWOOD, Respondent

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Deola Lebron WSBA# 41290 Attorney for Appellant 3615 Steilacoom Blvd. SW, # 301 Lakewood, WA 98499

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

BA & C Property Management, LLC asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of that portion of the decision issued on May 2, 2017 by the Court of Appeals, Division II, under Cause No. 48332-7-II affirming the trial court's dismissal of the action brought by BA & C Property Management, LLC. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through 8.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether captioning, in error, a petition for writ as one of "certiorari" is determinative when the substance of the petition makes clear that the petitioner was seeking writs of prohibition and mandamus as relief?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Underlying Facts

In early 2014, Respondent filed an administrative action to abate what it considered a nuisance on property owned within Respondent city's jurisdiction Petitioner, primarily due to the condition of the storage structure thereon,. At the time of the administrative action, Respondent had also instituted a criminal action alleging problems with a property

owned by William Chung (the owner of Petitioner) and other properties owned by William Chung and another company he owned. On June 12, 2014, after hearing on the administrative abatement action, the Hearings Officer—Respondent's Building Official—issued his decision. That decision required that Petitioner remove certain items from the property and either repair the structure or demolish, providing a deadline for submitting the appropriate permit application for doing so. The decision further provided that if Petitioner failed to comply by the deadline, Respondent could proceed with abatement by demolishing the structures on the property, the costs of which would be charged to Petitioner. Prior to the deadline for appealing the decision, however, the parties reached a global settlement that included all of the actions or threatened actions against properties owned by William Chung or companies he owned, including the criminal matter and the administrative abatement procedure which involved the property at issue here.

Consistent with the settlement, Petitioner continued with cleanup of the subject property as required by the settlement, and the architect and engineer Petitioner had retained finished with plans necessary the application for a building permit for remodeling structures on the property. Before the plans were completed, however, Petitioner received a letter from Respondent indicating that Respondent was not going to comply with the settlement agreement. When Petitioner contacted Respondent in

response to the correspondence, it learned that the Building Official who had commenced the abatement process originally and who issued the decision had been replaced.

Shortly thereafter, a meeting was held between Petitioner's owner and Respondent's new Building Official on the subject property. At that meeting, the existence of the settlement agreement was reaffirmed, and it was acknowledged that Petitioner was in compliance with the agreement, was planning to repair the structures and should continue with its efforts to complete the building permit application to do so. By letter of October 22, 2014, however, the new Building Official informed Petitioner that Respondent was now denying the existence of the settlement agreement, and that Respondent planned to proceed with demolition, claiming that Petitioner had failed to comply with the June, 12, 2014 decision.

Petitioner nevertheless completed the engineering and architectural plans for the structures' renovation and, in early December, 2014, presented a completed Building Permit Application to Respondent.

Respondent, however, refused to accept it, and the Application was neither processed nor denied.

2. The Petition in Superior Court

Following the refusal of Respondent to accept its Building Permit
Application, Petitioner commenced the present action in superior court
seeking writs (1) prohibiting Respondent from proceeding with abatement

and (2) mandating Respondent to accept and process the building permit application. Supporting Petitioner's requests for relief, the petition alleged that the abatement order contained within that decision entered in the administrative nuisance abatement action was voided and rendered moot by the parties settlement of the matter prior to the period of appeal had expired and that Petitioner had complied with the terms of that settlement. Accordingly, it was alleged that, pursuant to the settlement, Respondent was required to issue a building permit for repair of the primary structure on the property. Additionally, it was alleged, proceeding with the abatement action threatened by Respondent would unlawfully violate the terms of the parties' settlement agreement and cause irreparable damage to Petitioner. Although sets forth the case for the issuance of writs of prohibition and mandamus, in the title of the petition and in the prayer for relief, the writs requested were labeled as writs of certiorari.

3. Decision of the Superior Court

The Superior Court dismissed the petition under CR 12(b)(1) finding that the period for seeking review of the administrative decision by seeking a writ of certiorari had expired prior to the filing of the petition.

4. Decision of the Appellate Court

The Court of Appeals, Division II, upheld the Superior Court's decision dismissing the petition, finding that it was a petition for writ of certiorari and that it was untimely filed.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The writ procedure is part of our common law and its purpose is to restrain the exercise of unauthorized judicial or quasi-judicial power. *Cty. of Spokane v. Local No. 1553, Am. Fed'n of State, Cty. & Mun. Employees, AFL-CIO,* 76 Wash. App. 765, 768 (1995). There are three types: certiorari, prohibition and mandamus. Although the common law writ procedures still exist, they have been effectively supplanted by the statutory procedures set forth under RCW chapter 7.16. The crux of a statutory writ is that a governmental entity exceeded its jurisdiction or acted illegally and there is no other avenue of review or adequate remedy at law. *City of Seattle v. Holifield,* 170 Wn.2d 230, 240 (2010).

In the present case, Petitioner's petition alleges facts supporting the prayer that the court grant relief by mandating that Respondent accept and process building permit application Petitioner presented and prohibiting Respondent from proceeding with its threatened abatement action. The petition is titled, however, "Petition for Writ of Certiorari" despite making no references to review of the underlying administrative decision superseded by the parties' settlement.

Although the petition filed by Petitioner in superior court was entitled "Petition for Writ of Certiorari," it is clear from the factual allegations contained therein that Petitioner was not seeking review of the decision rendered by Respondent's Building Official in the administrative

nuisance abatement action. The petition alleged that the decision was superseded by the parties settlement entered into prior to the time period for appeal of the administrative decision. The settlement provided that Petitioner would have additional time to submit a building permit application for the repair of the buildings on the subject property and that Respondent would not proceed with abatement so long as Petitioner was making progress on completing the application. At issue, as alleged in the petition, was Respondent's and refusal to accept Petitioner's building permit application and threat to proceed with abatement, in breach of parties' settlement agreement.

1. Mistake in the Title of the Petition as a Writ of Certiorari, in Which the Allegations Can Only Be Read as Supporting the Petition's Request for Relief in the Form of Mandamus and Prohibition, Should Not Deny Petitioner the Opportunity to Have Its Claims Decided on the Merits.

Despite the title of the petition, nowhere in the petition do the substantive allegations suggest that the pre-settlement administrative decision was subject to review as the title might suggest. A writ of certiorari is a writ of review. RCW 7.16.030. And the remedy requested in the petition is not review of the administrative decision and the allegations contained to the petition make no suggestion that review was being sought. The petition seeks mandamus and prohibition to remedy Respondent's breach of the settlement agreement. In support that requested relief, what the petition alleges is that Respondent's threat to

proceed with abatement, in violation of the settlement agreement, would be unlawful and that Respondent's refusal to accept and process

Petitioner's properly presented building permit application, submitted in compliance with parties' settlement agreement, was likewise unlawful.

Based upon those allegations, the petition prays for relief as follows:

- A. For a writ of certiorari *mandating* Defendant to accept and process the building permit application prepared by Plaintiff with regard to the office/warehouse building on the subject property.
- B. For a writ of certiorari enjoining and *prohibiting* Defendant City of Lakewood from proceeding with any abatement actions with regard to the subject property, specifically including demolition of the office/warehouse building on the subject property.

The identification of the writs requested in the prayer for relief, as in the document's tile, as those of certiorari is in direct conflict with the substance of the petition's allegations and the substance of the relief prated for in the petition.

The mistaken inclusion of the term "certiorari" in place of "mandamus" and "prohibition," in clear contradiction with the substance of the petition and the relief it requests should not be determinative.

Washington's Superior Court Civil Rules provide guidance for pleading format: "All pleadings under the space under the docket number *should* contain a title indicating their purpose and party presenting them." CR 10(e)(2).(emphasis added). Under the court rules, therefore, the petition here need not have even included a title. If failing to provide a title to the

petition does not affect the validity of the petition, it does not follow that an error in the title affects the validity of the contents of the petition. The State of Georgia addressed this problem--inconsistency between title and contents--with regard to legislation. There, the caption of a statute does not "constitute part of the law and shall in no manner limit or expand on the construction of any Code section." O.C.G.A. § 1-1-7. As would be the case for legislation in Georgia, the title of the petition in this case should not be considered part as of the petition expressed in the allegations and prater for relief set forth in the body of the petition, despite the conflict between the two. The mistaken title in the petition should not deny Petitioner the opportunity to resolve its petition on the merits.

2. The Petition Properly Set Forth a Claim for the Issuance of a Writ of Mandamus.

Mandamus is appropriate to compel a government official or entity "to comply with law when the claim is clear and there is a duty to act." *In re Pers. Restraint of Dyer*, 143 Wash.2d 384, 398, (2001) (citing *Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wash.2d 402, 408 (1994)). If the petitioner's claim is clear and the government entity has a duty to act, mandamus is an appropriate remedy. See *Wash. State Labor Council v. Reed*, 149 Wash.2d 48, 55-56, (2003); *State ex rel. Heavey v. Murphy*, 138 Wash.2d 800, 804-05 (1999); *Dep't of Ecology v. State Fin. Comm.*, 116 Wash.2d 246, 252, (1991). The remedy of mandamus contemplates the necessity of indicating the precise thing to be done and cannot be used to compel a general course of official

conduct, as it is impossible for a court to oversee the performance of such duties. *Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wash. 2d at 407–08. If a duty to act is established, the question becomes whether the circumstances trigger the duty. See *Murphy*, 138 Wash.2d at 805, *Dep't of Ecology*, 116 Wash.2d at 252 (1991).

A writ of mandamus is appropriate here. The specific relief prayed for by Petitioner is for the court to mandate that Respondent City of Lakewood accept and process the building permit application Petitioner attempted to submit in December of 2014. Respondent has a duty to accept properly presented building permit applications for construction within its city limits. And the circumstances here were no exception. Petitioner had complied with the terms of the agreement reached in settlement of the nuisance abatement action, and its application was in the proper form and complete. Accordingly, Respondent cannot lawfully refuse to accept it.

3. The Petition Properly Set Forth a Claim for the Issuance of a Writ of Prohibition.

A writ of prohibition is defined by statute as follows: "It arrests the proceedings of any tribunal, corporation, board or person, when such proceedings are without or in excess of the jurisdiction of such tribunal, corporation, board or person." RCW 7.16.290. The court has stated that:

[u]nder the statutory writ, the actions of "any tribunal, corporation, board or person, whether they are acting in a judicial, legislative, executive, or administrative capacity, may be arrested, if acting in

excess of their power." *Winsor v. Bridges*, 24 Wash. 540, 543 (1991). Two conditions must be met to grant the writ: (1) the party to whom the writ is directed must be acting without or in excess of its jurisdiction; and (2) there must be an absence of a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of legal procedure. *In re Jones*, 39 Wash.2d 956, 958 (1952). The writ may be issued where it appears the person to whom it is directed is about to act in excess of his or her jurisdiction. *State ex rel. Gillespie v. Kuykendall*, 117 Wash. 415, 419 (1921); *Harris v. Brooker*, 8 Wash. 138, 139 (1894).

Spokane, supra. Here, Respondent induced Petitioner to forego appeal of the administrative order by agreeing to extend the time period for submitting a building permit for repair of the structure, which Petitioner did. Proceeding with its threats to proceed with abatement by demolishing Petitioner's structures unlawfully violates the terms of the parties' settlement agreement, and Respondent has not adequate remedy at law.

4. Dismissal by the Trial Court Pursuant to 12(b)(1) Was Error.

For purposes of deciding a motion to dismiss under CR 12(b), all of the factual allegations in Petitioner's petition are accepted as true.

Dennis v. Heggen, 35 Wn. App. 432, 667 P.2d 131 (1983). In considering such a motion, Washington courts have said "it must appear beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts consistent with the complaint which would entitle them to relief." See, e.g., Id. at 419; see also Karl B.

Tegland & Douglas J. Ende, Washington Handbook on Civil Procedure,

Vol. 15A, P. 292, (2011-2012) (allows a party to dismiss a claim only "when it is clear that the plaintiff will never prevail regardless of the facts proven at trial."). Accord, Bravo v. Dolsen Co., 125 Wn.2d 745, 750, 888

P.2d 147 (1995).

Dismissal under CR 12(b) is a drastic remedy granted only sparingly and with care, for the effect of granting the motion is to deny the plaintiff his or her day in court. *Collins v. Lomas & Nettleton Co.*, 29 Wn. App. 415, 628 P.2d 855 (1981).Furthermore, Plaintiffs should be freely allowed to amend the complaint in lieu of a dismissal, if it appears that by doing so the plaintiffs may state a cause of action. CR 15(a); *Caruso v. Local Union No. 690*, 100 Wn.2d 343 (1983).

The petition properly set forth claims supporting the remedy requested: the issuance of writs prohibiting Respondent from demolishing the structures on the subject property and mandating that Respondent accept the Building Permit Application presented by Petitioner and this matter should be remanded for trial.

F. CONCLUSION

Petitioner seeks a decision overruling the Court of Appeals and that the matter be remanded for trial.

June 1, 2017