FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/29/2017 11:34 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

#### No. 94583-7

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BA&C PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Petitioner,

Vs.

CITY OF LAKEWOOD,

Respondent.

#### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Matthew S. Kaser, WSBA # 32239 CITY OF LAKEWOOD 6000 Main Street Lakewood, WA 98499-5027 Telephone: (253) 589-2489 Facsimile: (253) 589-3774

Attorney for Respondent, City of Lakewood

### **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

RAP 13.4(b) outlines those factors which govern this Court's review of the Court of Appeals decision in this matter. Rather than identify how the Court of Appeals allegedly erred and square that alleged error within a RAP 13.4(b) framework, BA&C Property Management ("BA&C") makes clear that none of the lower courts erred. Rather BA&C made errors which it now asks the judiciary to correct.

This Court has been clear in its role in evaluating petitions for review. "In reviewing a decision of the Court of Appeals, we are generally limited to questions presented before and determined by that court and to claims of error directed to that court's resolution of such issues." *Peoples Nat'l Bank v. Peterson*, 82 Wn.2d 822, 830, 514 P.2d 159 (1973)(citing, Wood v. Postelthwaite, 82 Wn.2d 387, 510 P.2d 1109 (1973)(Emphasis added)).

The Petition does not allege a basis under RAP 13.4(b) nor does it even claim that the Court of Appeals erred. Given these critical defects, we will not ferret out potential claims and arguments which could or should have been made and develop counterarguments to such claims. This Court shouldn't either and it should deny review.

#### II. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES<sup>1</sup>

There are a myriad of reasons why the Petition for Review should be denied. Given the infirmities with the Petition itself and for brevity, we highlight two. First, BA&C simply fails to cite, much less discuss how the Court of Appeals decision meets any one of the factors, contained in RAP 13.4(b), governing this Court's acceptance of review. Second, there is no showing that the Court of Appeals erred, especially given that that BA&C failed to preserve its instant claims for review.

## A. BA&C Fails to Show How This Case Satisfies RAP 13.4(b).

BA&C is entitled to discretionary review of the Court of Appeal's decision only if it satisfies the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). This rule provides:

Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> BA&C fails to provide a single citation to a single "fact," in the record. Rather than provide a point-by-point rebuttal to each "fact," presented by BA&C in a separate section of this brief, Lakewood simply generally accepts the facts set forth in the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion. Unlike the claims asserted by BA&C, those facts *are* supported by the record. There are a few minor factual errors throughout the Opinion, the most notable of which relate to the identity of the various participants and are mostly addressed in our briefing before that Court. (See e.g., Respondent's Br. at p. 11, fn. 5). The correctness of those facts do not bear on the outcome.

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Hindering our ability to meaningfully respond is that BA&C fails to identify which subpart(s) of the rule, and directed to what part(s) of the Court of Appeals' decision, it believes warrants review.

It's not clear that any of the RAP 13.4(b) factors are present. The Petition does not raise a significant question of law under the state or federal constitutions; it cites no constitutional provisions. Nor does the Petition raise an issue of substantial public interest; BA&C seeks to avoid the abatement of its property and its property alone. There's not even a conflict of any law from either this Court or another division of the Court of Appeals which it points to. It continues to advance an imaginative alternative theory which it created for the first time on appeal without highlighting why it believes the Court of Appeals was wrong.

This latter point bears some additional emphasis. In its briefing before the Court of Appeals, BA&C failed to provide a single citation to the record and failed to argue the theory which it presented to the trial court. In spite of these defects, which the Court of Appeals recognized, it nonetheless chose to address these "improperly briefed legal or factual issue[s]," as the

basis for the claim was apparent. (Opinion at p. 3, fn. 2). Despite the leniency shown by the Court of Appeals, its Petition to this Court makes the same mistakes. But now, the basis by which BA&C seeks review is not apparent. Without a single citation to the record to back up its claims, BA&C continues to present "improperly briefed legal or factual issue[s,]" without confronting either the standards governing review or why the lower courts ruled the way they did.

Given its inability to articulate a RAP 13.4(b) factor, much less finesse its claims into the framework provided by that rule, this Court should deny review.

# B. The Court of Appeals Properly Rejected BA&C's Attempts to Recharacterize its Trial Court Claims.

BA&C's claims before the Superior Court focused exclusively on a statutory writ of review. As the Court of Appeals recognized, "BA & C appears to abandon its argument that it was entitled to a writ of certiorari[.]" (Opinion at p. 4). Its current Petition also appears to abandon those grounds which it advanced in the trial court. What BA&C has done on appeal is to shift its theory, claiming it should have been entitled to either a writ of mandamus or writ of prohibition. The Court of Appeals affirmed, but not because of the appellation of any claims. Instead, it evaluated the theory BA&C presented to the trial court and concluded that BA&C sought the

writ of review based on its briefing, arguments and theories presented to the trial court. It accordingly held that the trial court did not err in entertaining the theory presented by BA&C. It expressly declined to reach BA&C's alternative theories under RAP 2.5 because BA&C presented them for the first time on appeal. (Opinion at p. 4). Notably, BA&C doesn't even cite or analyze the rule to suggest otherwise.

"The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a). As this Court stated a half-century ago, "[a] case will be considered in this court only on the same theory upon which it was presented in the trial court." *Browning v. Johnson*, 70 Wn.2d 145, 152, 422 P.2d 314 (1967). The balance of the Court of Appeal's opinion flows from this unchallenged threshold determination.

The issue in this case is not, as BA&C claims, whether the caption of its trial court petition was in error. (*Petition for Rev.* at p. 1, ¶ C). If the appellation of its claims were the true issue, BA&C could have requested that the trial court address it via an appropriate motion (such as a motion to amend) and an adverse determination could have been the appropriate focus of appellate review. Instead, as the Court of Appeals explained, "at no point during the hearing on Lakewood's motion to dismiss, or in any of the briefing to the superior court, did BA&C state that it was seeking a writ of prohibition or a writ of mandamus." (Opinion at p. 4 (Emphasis added)).

That Court went on to explain that *after the case was dismissed*, and on BA&C's motion for reconsideration, it continued to expressly represent that it was seeking a writ of review. (*Id*, citing VRP (10/30/2015) at 7). In context, this makes sense; contrary to their claims before this Court, BA&C also originally challenged the underlying determination authorizing abatement of this property. (CP 5, ¶ 3.1 (second)(asserting that due to an alleged settlement<sup>2</sup> which occurred prior to the expiration of the appeal period, "...the abatement order contained within that decision was voided and rendered moot.")).

The real issue is whether BA&C properly complied with a basic precept of appellate practice: articulating why any court erred. Whether its claims fall within an invited error analysis, failure to preserve rubric or otherwise, a trial court cannot have committed "error," if the alleged "error," was never pointed out to it in the first instance. *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). Whatever "error," may have been committed is simply not of the judicial variety for which a grant of review will remedy.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals expressly recognized that the "overwhelming evidence in the record," does not support BA&C's factual account of a settlement, and even if there were, there still was no basis for the statutory writ of review. (Opinion at p. 5, fn. 5). If there was contrary evidence of a "settlement," that the Court of Appeals overlooked, one might expect it to be cited. And, if the analysis reached by the Court of Appeals was incorrect, one might expect it to be briefed.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Petition for Review should be denied.